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7 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA::
Criminal No. 1:21-cr-00496-TJK-1:: MARK S. IBRAHIM:: Defendant.: OPPOSITION TO THE MOTION TO
DISMISS THE INDICTMENT (ECF No. 21) The United States of America, by and through its attorney, the United
States Attorney for the District of Columbia, respectfully opposes defendant Mark Ibrahim's Motion to Dismiss the
Indictment based upon his claim that the indictment violates the First and Fifth Amendments of the United States
Constitution and Rule 7(c)(1) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. Defendant Ibrahim presses two types
of claims in his motion. First, he advances several arguments—a First Amendment claim, a selective prosecution
claim, and a corresponding vindictive prosecution claim—that are ripe for resolution at this point in the litigation
Those claims are not supported factually or legally and should be denied. Second, he presses several claims—
that he was entrapped, that he may assert a necessity defense, and that he did not act with the requisite mental
state—that are not a basis to dismiss the indictment. In any event, those claims also lack merit. Ibrahim is
charged via indictment with offenses related to crimes that occurred at the United States Capitol on January 6,
2021. Specifically, Ibrahim is charged with violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1752(a)(l) and (b)(l)(A) (Entering and
Remaining in a Restricted Building or Grounds with a Deadly or Dangerous Weapon), 40 U.S.C. § 5104(d)(2)(F)
(injuries to property), 40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)(1)(A)(i) (Firearms and Dangerous Weapons on Capitol Grounds), and
18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2) (False Statements and Representations). Ibrahim does not dispute that he 7 was present
on Capitol Grounds and Restricted Grounds armed with a deadly weapon, his DEA- issued firearm. Ibrahim also
concedes that he climbed upon the Peace Monument. Rather, Ibrahim argues that he did not act with a culpable
mens rea while engaged in that conduct. Ibrahim also disputes that he intentionally made a materially false,
fictitious, and fraudulent statement or representation to a federal officer. FACTUAL BACKGROUND The U.S.
Capitol was closed to all members of the public on January 6, 2021. Moreover, The USCP actively cordoned off
the area around the U.S. Capitol on January 6, 2021 to prevent people from interfering with the Electoral College
Certification process. The area was barricaded with bicycle racks, fencing, and Area Closed signs. Nevertheless,
rioters broke through the clearly marked barricades and stormed the Capitol. See Figures 1 and 2. Figure 1
Figure 2 On January 6, 2021, Ibrahim was a probationary Special Agent with the Drug Enforcement
Administration and at all times relevant to the below chronology, was carrying his DEA-issued firearm and was off
duty. Ibrahim had, on December 4, 2020 given "Notification of Resignation" stating that his last day on the job
would be January 29, 2021. On January 25, 2021, Ibrahim sent a notice to the DEA to inform them that he was
rescinding his resignation, effective immediately. On January 6, 2021, Ibrahim was on personal leave from the
DEA. He was not on duty for the DEA and had no role as a law enforcement officer on the Capitol 2 7 Grounds.
The DEA was not providing assistance to defend the Capitol and DEA agents were not assigned to defend the
Capitol. Ibrahim's Actions at the United States Capitol on January 6, 2021 At approximately 12:53 p.m., the
crowd began to break down the fencing and bicycle- rack style barricades at the foot of the U.S. Capitol Grounds
and entered the Grounds. Below is a frame taken from a video posted to the internet at approximately 12:53 p.m.
showing the fencing and the cordoned-off area. Signs indicating that the area was closed by order of the U.S.
Capitol Police Board were posted at regular intervals; they can be identified as the white squares on the fencing
in the image in Figure 3 below. A close-up of a sign is also attached below as Figure 4. An approximate outline of
the barricaded Capitol is included below as Figure 5. Figure 3 Figure 4 Figure 5 Historical cell-site data shows
defendant Ibrahim arriving in the area of the U.S. Capitol Grounds at approximately 1:06 p.m. At approximately
1:09 p.m., Ibrahim was photographed displaying his DEA badge and firearm. Figure 6 shows one of these
photographs. Figure 7 shows the approximate location of Ibrahim near Capitol Grounds. 3 7 Figure 6 Figure 7
The photographs are of such high resolution that the serrations on the slide of Ibrahim's DEA firearm are visible.
Figure 8 is a crop of the photo above showing Ibrahim's badge and firearm. Figure 8 4 7 Throughout the day,
Ibrahim had been texting with some DEA colleagues using the WhatsApp group chat. At approximately 1:22
p.m., a colleague messaged "Mark, you in DC stirring shit with the other Republicans?" Starting as 1:34 p.m.,
another messages the following: Figure 9 Figure 10 At approximately 1:45 p.m., Ibrahim can be seen
approximately 400 feet inside the first set of fencing and barricades shown above. A second cordoned-off area
with similar fencing can be seen in the background behind Ibrahim. His approximate location on Capitol Grounds
is attached as Figure 11. Figure 11 5 7 At approximately 1:57 p.m., the barricades on the northeast side of the
Capitol were pulled apart by the crowd. A video posted to the internet shows the crowd pulling apart the
barricades; a frame from this video is attached below as Figure 12. Figure 12 At 1:59 p.m., a video was posted to
the internet in which Ibrahim and his brother can be seen walking on the lawn of the Capitol Grounds along the
north side of the Capitol Building heading toward the northeast side of the Capitol. At 2:02 p.m. security camera
footage shows Ibrahim and his brother near the northeast side of the Capitol grounds. A frame from this security
camera footage is included as Figure 13 below. Defendant Ibrahim is identified with an arrow labeled "2" and his
brother, who is a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), is identified with an arrow labeled
"1" in Figure 13 below. Figure 13 6 7 At approximately 1:58 p.m., Ibrahim was photographed standing in front of
one of the barricades surrounding the Capitol. See Figure 14. His approximate location is shown in Figure 15.
Figure 14 Figure 15 At approximately 1:57 p.m, someone in the group chat messages "Seriously though,
anybody in DC today? Ibrahim, who had been participating in the WhatsApp group chat with at least five other
law enforcement officers, posted the photograph of himself (Figure 14) standing in front of the barricade at 2:06
p.m. On minute later, a DEA colleague responds "Question Mark, you are carrying your duty weapon and your
badge/creds?" Figure 16 7 7 At no time during the WhatsApp group chat conversation does Ibrahim state or
suggest that he was there to "determine if there was anyone in need of aid or if there was anything he could do
to help law enforcement in the midst of the emergency situation." See ECF No. 21, pg. 29. A video posted to the
internet at approximately 2:06 p.m. captured Ibrahim moving with the crowd, inside the separated barricades
near the steps of the Senate. That video shows Ibrahim on the inside of breached barricades, past a high
security wedge barrier with red letters spelling "STOP," past an overturned barrier, as well as police vehicle with
its flashing lights illuminated. Figure 17. At 2:03 p.m., defendant Ibrahim is photographed on the inside of the
barricades flashing his badge and DEA issued firearm. Figure 18. Figure 17 Figure 18 At 2:10 p.m., a person
posted a video to Parler which shows Ibrahim in the same area and also shows some of the chaos around him



when he flashed his badge and service weapon. Contrary to his assertion that he was taking private photographs
and facing away from the crowd, video 8 7 footage taken by defendant Ibrahim shows the substantial crowd
facing him from the direction in which he flashed his badge and DEA service weapon. See Figure 19. Figure 19
At approximately 2:10 p.m., Ibrahim took a video of himself, which he subsequently posted to the WhatsApp
group chat, standing in the crowd on a patch of grass above the United States Capitol visitor's center between
the East Portico of the Capitol and the Senate. This location is approximately 180 feet inside the east barricades
that had recently been overrun. Near the end of the video, the camera pans around to rest on Ibrahim's face.
Figure 20 9 7 At approximately 2:30 p.m., one of the other law enforcement officers participating in the
WhatsApp group chat with Ibrahim re-posted the earlier text stating "Question Mark, you are carrying your duty
weapon and your badge/creds? I need to know this mark." Figure 21 At approximately 2:45 p.m., Ashli Babbitt
was shot by a law enforcement officer while she was attempting to enter a location within the U.S. Capitol
Building. She was taken from the Capitol Building by fire and EMS at 3:00 p.m., she was transported within steps
of Ibrahim and loaded into an ambulance at 3:01 p.m. Ibrahim's friend, who was standing next to Ibrahim,
videotaped her as she was being moved past them. Ibrahim subsequently posted that video to the WhatsApp
group chat. Shortly after 3:00 p.m., Ibrahim, his friend, and his brother continued their clockwise circuit around
the Capitol Grounds and arrived at the Peace Monument in the Peace Circle at First Street, NW, and
Pennsylvania Avenue NW, which is located on the Capitol Grounds. At approximately 3:24 p.m., Ibrahim's friend
took a photograph of the Peace Monument from outside of the barricades. The Area Closed sign is visible
directly in front of the Peace Monument. 10 7 Figure 22 Figure 23 Moments later, Ibrahim climbed up onto the
Peace Monument. While on the Peace Monument, Ibrahim took a video of himself delivering a monologue, and
ended the video showing the scene from on the Peace Monument. In a frame from this video, the bicycle racks
surrounding the Peace Monument can be seen as well as the back of the Area Closed Sign.1 1 The video shows
the Area Closed signs on the outside of the Peace Circle. 11 7 Figure 24 At approximately 3:29 p.m., after
climbing down from the Peace Monument, Ibrahim again posed for several photographs while displaying his DEA
badge and firearm. 12 7 Figure 25 Ibrahim also created a YouTube channel called the Liberty Tavern Channel.
Ibrahim posted a video of that day to his channel. In a series of three video shorts, Ibrahim can be heard
discussing Liberty Tavern cigars just feet from the Capitol. Figure 26 Ibrahim can be heard saying "just chilling,
enjoying a Liberty Tavern Cigar. On the steps of the Capitol. Mazel tov." See https://www.youtube.com/watch?
v=rKNnQrUnSgE. 13 7 Figure 27 In another episode, he says "Fuck it, let's do it live. Let's go check it out." See
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MhEcmIE0roo. Figure 28 In another episode, he says "Just here at the steps
of the Capitol enjoying a nice Liberty Tavern cigar and yeah, apparently some guys got in." See
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mxN8mXBBuxI. 14 7 1. Defendant's statement of facts – disputed by the
government Sprinkled throughout his background and memorandum of points and authorities, defendant Ibrahim
makes various factual claims. Those factual assertions play no role in resolving the defendant's pretrial claims.
See United States v. Pope, 613 F.3d 1255, 1259 (10th Cir. 2010) (Gorsuch, J.) (internal quotation omitted) ("Rule
12 permits pretrial resolution of a motion to dismiss the indictment only when trial of the facts surrounding the
commission of the alleged offense would be of no assistance in determining the validity of the defense.").
Moreover, many of those factual claims are inaccurate. Some—though not all—of those inaccuracies are
described below. Defendant Ibrahim claims that he "was ready to defend the United States Capitol and offered to
do so t






































































